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	My Government Career
November 10, 2010
	    1361013


With the end of my government career fast approaching, I thought it would be a good idea to write a column about what I have been doing for the past 49 years. Yes, I will be retiring on 31 December 2010.

My government career started on 2 October 1961 when I enlisted in the US Navy. The primary reason I quit school and joined the Navy was the Vietnam War.  They were starting to draft college students into the Army and I definitely did not want to go to Vietnam and run around in the jungle on foot.  A person could get killed over there!  Both my best friend Lew Deveraux and I applied for the Navy NAVCAD training program (this was a Navy Program where you become an officer and a pilot) but we both got turned down for some reason so we just enlisted.
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I went to boot camp at the Recruit Training Command in San Diego, CA.  I was in good shape from playing basketball in college and did not have any trouble at all in boot camp.   When I graduated from high school, I was 6’3” and weighed 180 pounds and I was 6’4” and weighed 200 pounds when I joined the Navy. I didn’t know exactly what I wanted to do in the Navy but after looking at the list of career fields, I picked being a Weatherman (which in the Navy was called an Aerographers (AG) Mate).  I also planned to play a lot of basketball.  After boot camp, I took a little trip to Tijuana, Mexico and went home to Utah for some leave before going to the Naval Air Station in New Iberia, LA.  A friend I met at boot camp named Bob Parsons came home with me to Utah for awhile.  I never saw him or heard from him again.
My job at the Naval Air Station in New Iberia was a Weather Observer.  Twice a day I would go outside and see what the weather looked like and to read the different instruments (temperature - humidity - air pressure – wind etc.).  Then I would record the information and broadcast the data to other military installations.  I was scheduled to attend Weather School at Lakehurst, NJ in 6 months so I was just a trainee at New Iberia.  During the second week there, I was outside checking the weather and there were thunderstorms in the area and off to the left I spotted a funnel cloud heading straight for the base.  At about the same time as I sounded the alarm, a tornado came right through the base.  It damaged 3 or 4 airplanes and knocked down a hanger but missed us by about a block.  The basketball season had just started and somehow the coach of the base team knew I was a basketball player.  He looked me up soon after I got there and I played four games before breaking my arm.  I was going up for a breakaway layup and somebody run under me and I come down on my left elbow.  I was out for the season.  They say basketball is non-contact sport - well in the 15 years I played organized basketball, I had my nose broken twice, my foot broke twice, my arm once, one dislocated shoulder, a dozen sprained ankles and my big toe nails kept falling off because of people jumping on my toes.  Basketball is still a fun game.   
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	The Bayou River


They have a lot of snakes in Louisiana and one of the big sports there is going out on the Bayou River and shooting snakes.  There are thousands of them in the water and the surrounding swamps.  While I was at New Iberia, we had 2 sailors get killed by falling into the water where a nest of snakes happened to be.  One day while attending a party at our Commander’s house, a group of us took a speed boat out on the river.  There were a couple of girls leaning against the side of the boat and when the driver made a sharp turn they both fell into the river.  One of the girls could not swim and I jumped in and kept her above water until the boat could get back to us.  This girl happened to be the Commander’s daughter and I received an award for saving her life.  I was just glad she picked a spot in the river to fall in where there were no snakes.  I also got to go to the Mardi Gras in New Orleans - this was one big party and quite an experience for a country boy like me.

I arrived at Lakehurst Naval Air Station, NJ in mid-1962.  I was there to take a 3-month weatherman (AG) course.  This was a good school and I ended up coming out 2nd highest in my class so they decided to keep me there for another three months for the advanced weatherman course.  This was okay with me because by then I was playing basketball on the weather school team and also on the base team.  After the next 3-month school they decided to keep me for another year just to play basketball.  I played my best basketball while stationed at Lakehurst.  I averaged over 30 points a game for the weather school team and 25 points a game for the base team for the two seasons I played there.  The base team played in the All-Navy Tournament both years and I scored 60 points in one game for my best ever game.  In addition to playing basketball, I played softball, touch football and a lot of ping pong.   I played ping pong with a black guy named Butler and we could beat everybody we played.  I had a box full of trophies which I mailed home to Utah and kept on my dresser until my mother moved to Orem in 1993.  I purchased a 1957 Pontiac while at Lakehurst and got to see a lot of scenic country along the East Coast including Atlantic City, New York, Philadelphia, and the New Jersey beaches. 
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	The Lakehurst Lakers Basketball Team
	Some of the Trophies I won playing Sports


After two years of goofing off at Lakehurst, the Navy decided it was time for me to go to work.  I requested shipboard duty but the Navy decided to send me to the Fleet Weather Central at Kenitra, Morocco, which is located on the Northwest tip of Africa with the Atlantic Ocean on the west and the Mediterranean Sea on the north.  When you get a little away from the water, you are in the Sahara Desert.  They have a lot of Camels in Morocco and my primary goal while in Morocco was to ride a camel.  While there for about five months, I got to ride camels three times.  Camels are not like horses – they are unfriendly, they all stink, and they don’t go where you want them to go.  But riding them was fun!  My Nickname in High School was “Camel” and every since then, I always wanted to ride one.

While at Lakehurst, NJ, I received a Top Secret Clearance and my job at the Fleet Weather Center was to monitor the weather over the Soviet Union (Russia).  I worked in the back room where there are no windows and only a few authorized people were allowed to enter.  Inside we used crypto equipment to receive weather information from our spies inside Russia.  This period was during the “cold war” and we were prepared to send our warplanes to Russia at any time the command was given.  The military had to know what the weather conditions were at all times.  It was an interesting job.
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	Special Forces Releasing Weather Balloon
	Fleet Weather Central Kenitra


Most of the people that live in Morocco are Arabic and I never saw a more dishonest group of people in my life.  They were mostly a bunch of thieves.  I mean they would steal anything.  One of my friends had car problems about a half-mile from the base and walked into the base to get help.  When he got back to where his car was suppose to be (in about 30 minutes), his car had been stripped and completely carried away.  You had to be very careful when off base because there were pickpockets everywhere.  Fortunately, there were a lot of French and Spanish people living in Morocco that were friendly, honest, and good to know.
I remember one basketball game we played in Morocco.  As a goodwill gesture, we put together a Fleet Weather Center team and agreed to play a local Kenitra team at their site.  When we arrived, we found out that we were going to play outside in the street.  They had blocked off the main road through town and installed a couple of baskets.  It was about 120 degrees in the shade when the game started at high noon.  The heat almost killed us and we found out later that we were actually playing the Morocco National Team.  We beat them anyway.

After five months in Morocco, the Navy decided to move the Fleet Weather Center to Rota, Spain.  We were all very happy about that!  I still had one friend who managed to keep his car from being stolen and he invited me to drive to Rota with him.  We had to drive from Kenitra to Tangiers and then take the ferry across the Mediterranean to the city of Gibraltar (which is an English Colony) and then on to Rota.  We spent two nights in Tangiers, which was the most exotic city I ever visited.  Almost every bar had belly dancers.  The ferry ride was about as close to being on a ship as I got in my Navy career.  

My final Navy duty station was Rota, Spain where I was stationed from late 1964 until I got out in February 1966.  Rota is located on the Southwest coast of Spain on the Atlantic Ocean not too far from the Mediterranean Sea.  All the people I come across in Spain were very friendly and honest.  They were just the opposite of the people in Morocco, Africa where I had come from.  I loved Spain and was not disappointed at all when I got extended for four months during the Cuba Missile Crisis.  I was having the time of my life.

Basketball season was just starting when I arrived at Rota and the first person to visit me at my quarters was the base basketball coach.  He knew I was coming and had a spot on the team reserved for me.  I didn’t even have to try out.  During the basketball season, playing basketball was my full-time job.  The Fleet Weather Center would have to get along without me until the season ended.  The Navy took their sports seriously and our goal was to make the All-Navy Tournament that was going to be played in Providence, RI.  I was a starting forward on the team and we played games all over Europe including Naples, Italy, London, England, and at several bases in Spain and Germany.  We had a good team and won the Navy Championship in Europe.  They put us on the Navy Tanker Plane (along with a couple of big trucks) and we were on our way to Rhode Island.  We had a good run but ended up losing in the All-Navy Tournament.

My best friend while in Spain was a guy named Bill Connelly and we worked the same hours.  We spent a lot of time in the bars together and we joined a Pinochle (double deck) playing group.  Bill was my partner and we had every illegal signal in the book, so we knew exactly what each other’s hands were.  We played for money and did quite well. I can only remember taking one vacation while at Rota.  Bill and I took the train to Lisbon, Portugal.  Lisbon is a big city right on the Atlantic Ocean and we went there to check out the girls on the nude beaches.   We also checked out several bars and did some other sightseeing.  One night when we were walking down a narrow street, a speeding car tried to run us down.  We had to dive into a doorway to avoid getting hit.  We had fun in Portugal but decided the people in Spain were a lot more friendly.
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	Me in my Navy Uniform
	Bull Fighting in Spain


The event that I remember best in Spain was the bull fights.  I went several times and they were all very exciting. The closest bull fighting ring was located in Cadiz (only 10 miles from Rota).  We would buy some wine and bread and take the bus from Rota.  They have good wine in Spain and the bread ain’t too bad either.  I always rooted for the bull to win, but most of the time the Matador would kill the bull.  Bull fighting is a little bloody but exciting to watch in person.  I was sad when it came time to leave Spain.  It is a great country!

After coming home from the Navy I purchased my first new car (a 1966 Ford Galaxy) at the Ford dealer in American Fork, UT.   It was now time to find a new job.  I went out to Tooele Army Depot and applied for every open job they had regardless of what the duties were.  I figured that once I got my foot in the door I could move up to better jobs.  Well, I got hired as a W-5 Woodworker and my duties were to build boxes.  After a week or two of hitting my fingers with the hammer, I got pretty good at it.  In the beginning I was living at home in Pleasant Grove and driving to and from Tooele (about 60 miles each way) every day.  This got old in a hurry especially after driving out there in a blizzard a few times.  I found and rented a finished basement of a house for $100 a month and become a Tooele resident.  In the mean time, I applied for an Electronics job.  I was selected for this job and they sent me to The Electronic Institute in Salt Lake City for 3 months of training.  After that, I worked on the assembly line building Redeye Missiles.  I didn’t like this job too much either so I took the test to become a white collar GS employee.  I was selected to enter the Data Processing Intern Program as a GS-5 Computer Programmer.  The government sent me back to Rock Island, IL to learn how to program a computer.  I was promoted to GS-7 in 6 months and to GS-9 a year after that and I finally had a job I liked.
	[image: image11.jpg]




	Settlement Canyon Reservoir – Tooele City – Tooele Army Depot


The mainframe computer at Tooele was an IBM 1401 with 4K (4,000) bytes of memory. We had to program it in machine language in order for the programs to fit and run in this small amount of memory. The computer room took up half of a floor in the warehouse Data Processing Center.  It looked kind of like the picture at the top of this column. Although, I don’t remember all of those old men in funny looking hats working in our computer room!  One day, me and a guy I worked with (Rick Battison) saw this urgent notice trying to find people to join a Quick Reaction Team to go to Camp Carroll, Korea to design and program a Supply System for the new computers that had just arrived.   They wanted expert programmers for the UNIVAC 1005 computer.  Well, Rick and I had never heard of a 1005 computer but we decided to apply and then fake it until we could learn whatever was necessary to get the job done.  Apparently not too many people applied because the next week we were on an airplane headed for South Korea.  
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	Camp Carroll, South Korea
	Quick Reaction Programming Team


Two other guys from back East were on the team.  The Command at Camp Carroll assigned a 1st Lieutenant to work with us. Rick (front center in above picture) elected himself as the Team Leader and as it turned out, I was the best programmer.  We spent the 1968 Christmas at Camp Carroll - It was very snowy and cold.  We stayed at the BOQ (Bachelor Officers Quarters) and one day I was sitting in my room reading the Stars and Stripes Newspaper when one of my friends opens my door and throws a snowball at me and runs away.  Well, I run after him and he goes outside where I make a snowball and continue the chase.  When I have him within range I throw my snowball and miss him but managed to hit a South Korean fence guard in the head.  He pointed his gun right at me and I thought for sure I was a goner.  In Korea, you do strange things for entertainment.  There was this other person on our floor who never took a bath and we didn’t like him very much so one day while he was at work we broke down his door and moved everything in his room outside in the snow.  We set it up just the way it was in his room.  He got the hint and was a lot cleaner after that.  On our way back from Korea, we stopped in Honolulu for a couple of meetings at Fort Shafter and a few days off. A little later in 1969, Camp Carroll requested another team to program a Labor and Production System.  This time, I was the only volunteer and ended up programming the entire system by myself.  Management at Fort Shafter was impressed with my work and offered me a job at Fort Shafter. I told them that I would think about it and let them know.  
I joined a basketball team from Tooele that played in the Industrial League made up mostly of teams from Salt Lake City.  The thing that I remember most about this team was playing at the Utah State Prison a couple of times.  It was a little scary going in the prison and walking through the halls to the Gym.  Most of the players were okay but some of the spectators were a little overly friendly.  It was an experience!  I also joined a softball team and played first base and did a little pitching.  We had two ping pong tables in the warehouse behind our office at Tooele Army Depot.  I used to play every day at lunch and after work.  I was pretty good and later won the base ping pong tournament championship.  The guy I beat (Kennedy) for the championship was also from our office.  

Around this time, I purchased a new blue 1968 Oldsmobile Cutlass convertible that was the car I liked the most of all the cars I have owned.  In mid 1969, I drove this car across country to Chambersburg, PA.  I stopped in Denver the first night, then Kansas City the second night and then on to Columbus, Ohio to visit my old Navy friend (Bill Connelly).  I was there for three days and we went to the Harness Races which I enjoyed very much.  This was my first horse race and I have been going to them whenever possible since then.  When I arrived in Chambersburg, I met up with three other people from Tooele - Rick Battison, Albert Martinez, and Bob Dial.  We were on extended TDY at Letterkenny Army Depot to develop the Army’s next big computer system called SPEEDEX.  There were people from all over the country there with us but it didn’t take long before Rick was running the show.  (Rick was born leader)  At the time, he was only a GS-9 but that didn’t stop him from bossing around the GS-13s and GS-14s.  Needless to say, not too many people liked Rick - I was probably his only friend.  Albert Martinez become my good friend and pool playing partner.  I still go visit him whenever I’m in Utah for our annual pool match.  I used to win most of the time but now Albert wins most of the time. He plays in a pool league in Tooele and he got better than me.
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	Letterkenny Army Depot
	Albert Martinez (Pool Champion)


We almost didn’t make it home to Utah for Christmas that year (1969).  All four of us planned to fly home at the same time from Harrisburg, PA to Chicago, IL and from there to Salt Lake City.  We made it to Chicago just as a blizzard hit the area and about the time we were ready to board, they cancelled all flights for the day.  Well, we didn’t want to spend Christmas in Chicago so we rented a car and attempted to drive to Utah.  It was bad weather all the way but somehow we made it home for Christmas.

I tried out for the Chambersburg Cardinals basketball team that played in the Continental League in Pennsylvania and Maryland.  I made the team and this was as close as I ever got to playing professional basketball.  They paid for our travel and meal expenses.  I played pretty good and had a lot of fun. This was the last organized basketball team I ever played for.  I retired from organized basketball at age 29.

One day I was sitting around wondering what I wanted to do with the rest of my life when I remembered the standing job offer in Hawaii.  So, I called the big boss there (Vic Carreira) and asked if he still had a job for me?  He said yes and hired me on the spot as a GS-11 Computer Systems Analyst and told me to get over to Honolulu right away.
I left Utah in June 1970 and drove my Oldsmobile convertible to San Francisco where I spent a couple of days before dropping the car off in Oakland to be shipped to Honolulu.  After arriving in Hawaii, I stayed at the Reef Tower Hotel in Waikiki for 30 days.  It was great living in Waikiki but after the government quit paying for my room I had to find a more permanent place to live.  
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	Waikiki Beach at Sunset
	Central Union Church


I found an apartment on the corner of Beretania and Punahou Streets across the street from the Central Union Church.  My place was on the 8th floor and this was the first time (and last) I ever lived in a high rise.  Life in Hawaii is good.  The weather is always good and Hawaii is a beautiful state.  I made a lot of friends and started playing golf on a regular basis.   Golf is a hard game!  I’m pretty good at most sports but I never got good at golf.  I started out shooting around 100 for 18 holes and now 40 or so years later, I’m still shooting around a 100.  The first couple of years, I went swimming in the ocean and spent a lot of time at the beach.  In December 1972, I got married and settled down to a normal life. I started going to the Fort Shafter gym at least once a week to play basketball.  I’m still doing this.  In two years, I got promoted to GS-12 and become a Computer Systems Programmer.  I got promoted to my current GS-13 Computer Specialist position in 1992.  My primary job was updating and maintaining the Operating System for the Army’s mainframe computers which were located at Fort Shafter, Hawaii; Yongsan, Seoul, Korea; Camp Walker, Taegu, Korea; and Camp Zama, Japan. I went TDY to Korea and Japan more than 40 times over the years.  In addition to these trips, I went to the Philippines three times, to Bangkok, Thailand once, and to Zweibrucken, Germany once.  I made many friends and had many exciting experiences over these years.  Most of these experiences were good but a few were not so great – I will tell you about three of the not so good experiences.

In Seoul, Korea, to get back to the Hamilton Hotel from the bar area, you have to cross the main street that runs through tourist area of Itaewon.  In the old days, there were no stop lights or crosswalks on this busy street.  So, what you would have to do is wait for an opening and run half way across the street and stand in the middle of the road until the other side opened up and then dash the rest of the way across the street.  Well, one night when I was returning from the bar area and was standing in the middle of the road, I got hit by a bus!  Actually, the bus side mirror hit my left elbow and knocked me into the oncoming traffic.  I bounced off one car and fell into the next lane where I expected to get run over but the car stopped in time and I didn’t get hurt too bad.  I only had a few scrapes and bruises.  I was lucky to fall in front of the only “good” driver in Korea.  Most of them drive like maniacs.
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	Yongsan Data Processing Center, Seoul
	Hamilton Hotel in Seoul
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	Itaewon Shopping Area
	The Apple Pub – My favorite bar in Seoul


What I heard on that faithful night in February 1985 was Fire! Fire! Fire! in Korean.  I had returned to my room around midnight after having a few beers at one of the local bars in Taegu, Korea.  I was awakened by somebody running down the hallway pounding on everybody’s door and screaming something I didn’t understand.  Fortunately, I got up to find out what was going on.  As I approached the door I could hear a crackling noise and when I opened the door a cloud of thick black smoke hit me.  I did not have time to think – I just reacted by grabbing my wallet and started running for the front door.  My room was located on the third floor as far away from the exit as you could get.  I could not see anything except for the flames coming out of some of the rooms.  I knew the stairs were at the other end of the hall and I run until I hit the wall and then down the stairs and out into the street.  I tried not to breathe for the 20 or so seconds it took me to get out of this 3-story Korean Hotel, but I was choking and spitting up black stuff as I watched the Hotel burn to ground.  I was in my shorts and undershirt and it was very cold.  A nice Korean lady came out of a house and gave me a blanket.  This was the closest I ever came to dying that I can remember.

They have a real law and order problem in the Philippines.  It would probably make Dodge City, in the old west days, seem tame.  Many of the bars we went to asked us to check our weapons before entering.  I think everybody in Manila carries a gun or a knife.  It is bad enough with all the thieves and muggers but they also have the New People’s Army (NPA) running around killing people.  There were two bloody COUP attempts during the period I was going there. Well, with all these possible hazards, you might be wondering if anything happened to me during any of my three visits there.  Yes – I almost got killed - I fell into an open manhole!  We were walking to the bar area at night when I fell into one of those damn things and almost broke my leg.  On every block there are several open manholes.  I never saw a covered manhole in Manila and come to the brilliant conclusion that manhole covers are very valuable.

Over the years, I made many friends (both Korean and American) and always had things to do in my free time.  Mr. Son and Miss Kim (they are husband and wife) are my very best friends in Korea.  Mr. Son is the smartest computer person I ever met and I was fortunate to work with him all the years I was going TDY to Korea from Fort Shafter.  All I had to do was let him know what needed to be done and he would get the job done right in no time.  I had it easy.  Mr. Son and I would go out and play pool several times a trip.  Korean Billiards is played on a “pocketless” table with two red balls and two white balls (one white ball had a little dot on it).  The object was to shoot your white ball and hit both red balls.  To go out (win), you had to make a “triple” which means hitting the rail three times in the process of hitting the two red balls.  This is very difficult and allows the other person a chance to catch up.  It’s a great game.  Miss Kim always came along when we played.  She would go buy the beer and keep an eye on Mr. Son who sometimes got into trouble when he drank too much.  We would all go out to dinner or over to their house after the pool game.

I always carried my ping pong paddle when I went to Korea.  Howard Lee (an American of Chinese ancestry) who worked at YDPC was my ping pong partner.  We played every trip at the Yongsan Recreation Center.  We had good matches because all of our games were close and both of us were very competitive.  When I come to Seoul, it gave Howard an excuse to get out of the house and go with me to the bars.  Howard does not drink but he likes to go look at and talk to the pretty young girls.  We had a lot of fun. My friends at Taegu included Mr Pak, Bill Edwards, and Bob Pietrusiewicz and at Camp Zama, Japan I worked with Mike Prettyman during most of these years.
Okay, back to my job as a mainframe Computer Systems Programmer.  I did this job for about 28 years until they removed the last mainframe computer at Taegu in September 1999.  This was a great job!  I especially enjoyed the two trips a year to Korea and Japan.  It also provided me the opportunity to travel to the mainland a lot for computer training and this allowed me to get home to Utah to see my family on a regular basis.  
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	Palm Circle at Fort Shafter


During most of the early years at Fort Shafter (1970 to mid-1990s), I worked for USAISEC-PAC at buildings T128 and 525. I went through more than a dozen Commanders and several civilian supervisors but I would like to recognize five leaders who did the most to advance my career.
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	USAISEC-PAC Group Picture
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	COL Leishman
	David Tomooka


COL Leishman was one of my first Commanders and he knew how to run an organization and how to maintain a very high morale level. Yes, COL Leishman was a golfer and our monthly golf tournament did wonders for the morale of the troops.
COL Painter (pictured front center above) was the ISEC-PAC Commander for a long time. He knew how to get along with everybody and how to keep a low profile and let his front line civilian supervisors run the organization. COL Painter was the only Commander that I went out drinking with – this happened in Korea and we had a great time. Unfortunately, COL Painter tried to keep up with me and was sick for the rest of the TDY trip.
Art Lopkoff (pictured front right – white shirt with no hair) was our Division Chief for most of this period. Art knew how to get the job done right. He made sure we had the latest training and software tools to maintain the most update and error-free running mainframe operating systems in the Army. 
Masa Genka (pictured in the middle behind COL Painter in the red shirt) was the ISEC-PAC Software Branch Chief for many years. Masa always backed up us employees and let us do the important work without worrying about the petty crap.  Masa and I went out to lunch a lot and we followed one rule that Art Lopkoff had set - if you have more than two beers, don’t come back to work.  We took the afternoon off a lot. 

Dave Tomooka took over as our branch chief when Masa retired. Dave’s management style was similar to Masa’s but Dave had a lot more issues to deal with. The ISEC-PAC organization was de-commissioned and the 516th Signal Brigade took over the Software and Engineering Branches.  Dave converted our duties to focus on designing, programming, and maintaining required government websites. He fought with 516th upper management to keep our jobs technical. Eventually, they decided that they didn’t need the Engineering and Software branches and merged everybody into the existing 516th Signal Brigade at building T128.  Dave retired shortly after that.
Before Dave Tomooka became a supervisor, he was working with Rick Firchau, Andy Corbett, me, and a few other people maintaining the mainframe operating systems and networks.  Andy and I took most of the TDY trips to Korea/Japan in the early years until he got married and took a job in Germany where he and his wife Judy still live.  After that, I took most of the trips myself. Rick Firchau come to Fort Shafter in the mid-1970’s as a 2nd Lieutenant and has been working with me every since then.  Art Lopkoff hired him after he got out of the Army. Rick is an excellent computer programmer and is very thorough in most everything he does. He has also been my one-on-one basketball competition over the years. 
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Dave Pfannes and his wife Emmy have been my good friends since the early 1970’s. Although, we never worked directly with each other, we both worked with computers and had some common interests like golf, poker, and drinking a few cold ones. Later, Dave took a job at the Pentagon and moved to Springfield, VA. Whenever, I went TDY to the Washington D.C. area, Dave and Emmy invited me over to their house for a barbeque or something to eat, drinks, and some good conversion. Later, Dave took a job with USAISEC-EUR at Zweibrucken, Germany. Both Andy and Dave were working in Germany when Art Lopkoff and I went there TDY for meetings. Dave and Emmy had a beautiful home out in the country and we had a great time during this visit. Dave and Emmy are retired now and living in Las Vegas. I even went to visit them there awhile back. We stay in touch mostly by email. Donald Chong was a Computer Programmer at Shafter and a member of our poker group. Donald became a good friend of mine and this friendship lasted until he died a few years ago.  Donald was a wise man and I learned a lot from him.  
After the demise of the mainframe computers, they gave me the Year 2000 (Y2K) Project and was told by the 516th Signal Brigade Commander (COL Franks) to fix the Y2K problem on all USARPAC computers and report status to him daily until this job was done.   I never did like this Commander!  But anyway, they assigned one contractor (Hank Alau) to help with the project. I was very lucky – Hank (a big Hawaiian guy) had worked for the Government for a long time and he was smart and knew how to get things done. For you non-computer people, the Y2K problem was caused by programmers and computer manufacturers using a 2-digit year. Remember, in the early years of computers, disk and memory space was tight so they just dropped off the “19” part of the year to save space. This went on until the mid 1990’s when they realized that there were going to be big problems when the year 2000 arrived. For example, let’s say you started working in 1970 and planned to retire in the year 2000. The government computer needed to compute your retirement pay based on years worked. Well, the computer would come up with -70 (00 – 70) for your years worked and you would owe the government money.  Do you see the problem?  The solution to the Y2K problem was to replace all old computers that used a 2-digit year and update every computer program to use 4-digit years. This was a big task but Hank and I did it for the Army in the Pacific and thousands of programmers World-wide did it for most all of the critical computers and computer programs. There was no big disaster when the year 2000 rolled around. Hank and I had solutions for most of the World’s other problems too but nobody would listen to us.
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	From 2000 to 2003, the Software Branch became government website designers and programmers.  MAJ Brad Harder was the Engineering and Software (E&S) Division Chief and he was well liked by everybody. Brad and I also had something in common – we were both big sports fans (he even followed NASCAR!). Dave Tomooka was still the Software Branch Chief and Rick Firchau, Alisa Imamura, Odie Laroya, and me were the primary programmers.  We designed and programmed over 30 website applications including an S1 Personnel System, S4 Contract Management System, Brigade Task Tracking System, Master Events Calendar, and several reoccurring surveys.  After they did away with the Software Branch in 2003, Rick and Odie were transferred to the Pacific TNOSC, Alisa went to the 311th Signal Theater Architecture Office, I went to the 516th Signal Brigade S3 Project Management Branch and Dave Tomooka retired in 2004.  I was going to be a Project Manager but I still had to maintain the website applications.  Later, they brought Rick back to work with me on this since my role as a Project Manager was expanding.  I really did enjoy my job as a Website Programmer because programming is what I like to do most of all. The only bad thing about my job during this period was there were no more trips to Korea and Japan and very few trips to the mainland U.S.


I contribute my long Federal Government career to the fact that I have had good jobs and have managed to stay healthy. My secret to staying healthy is daily exercise, doing things that keep my brain active like reading, writing, programming, playing games, and always having something to look forward to, and beer.    
For the past 20 years or so, I have gone for a 20 to 30 minute walk every day.  I have had several walking partners over the years including Alisa Imamura, Peter Thipphavong, Gary Shimabukuro, and Debra Reynolds.  If I don’t have anybody to walk with, I go by myself.  For a long time, I used to play ping pong once a week at Hickam Air Base with Edwin Lacaden, an Engineer who worked at building 525 with us.  Ping pong or table tennis (as they call it now) is very good exercise. I have already told you about playing basketball with Rick at the Fort Shafter gym.
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About 20 years ago, John Lawton (a guy that used to work with us) and I were sitting in the Fort Shafter Bowling Alley having a beer and watching the people bowl.  We noticed this one team, which had a good looking lady giving everybody who got a strike a big hug.  Hey, for a couple of old farts like us who had not bowled for 20 years, this sparked our interest and we decided to start bowling.  We joined the league as subs and eventually asked to be on the team that gave hugs for strikes.  As luck will have it, a new league was starting up and she (Nancy Poor) needed a couple of bowlers.  Nancy was a Captain in Army and worked at the Finance Office.  She was also the Team Captain on our bowling team called WETSU.  She was single and liked to drink beer so we had a fun team.  Nancy left Hawaii in 1996 after getting out of the Army and not being able to find a decent job here in Hawaii.
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	Recent picture of Ace Parker and me at the Fort Shafter Bowling Alley 


I took over as Team Captain and the hugs for strikes era ended.  One of the original team members (Ace Parker) still bowls on the same team with me.  He is my age and was also in the Navy.  Howard Andrus used to be on our team but has since switched to another team.  Howard is a good friend of mine and is my current beer drinking partner before bowling.  John Davy (a retired military guy) used to bowl with us and he was my beer drinking partner before Howard.  Big John took a job in Okinawa for a couple of years and has returned to the islands but has not started bowling again, yet.  I usually average about 170 and consider myself to be a little better than average.  I win a jackpot every now and again.  The thing I like best about bowling every Wednesday night is getting out of the house once a week, having a few beers, talking with friends, having some fun, and getting rid of some stress.
In 2004, I moved back to building T128 on Palm Circle. This was the building I started at in 1970. I was working in the 516th Signal Brigade S3 Programs and Project Management (PPM) Branch and my new supervisor was Ira Burnett.  My duties included maintaining the website applications we had developed over the past four years and helping Doreen Harunaga-Ewing with a large complex project called Server Consolidation. There were also two contractors (Chris Philben and Almando Gooden) working on this project. A while later, the following events occurred: Doreen abruptly retired, I was assigned as the Project Manager for Server Consolidation, Rick Firchau was brought back to maintain websites, Ira was promoted and took another job,  and Karen Lacaden was made PPM Branch Chief.  
I enjoyed working for both Ira and Karen – The only duty I didn’t like was being assigned as the Contracting Officer Representative (COR) for the branch contractors and the Server Consolidation contract. Being the COR for any contract is a pain in the Okole!  Later in mid-2007, Karen left us to take the Systems Integration Branch (SIB) Chief and I was detailed in to take the PPM Branch Chief job for six months. Did I ever tell you that I never ever had any desire to be in management? Well, it is true. Supervisors have to deal with work and employee’s personal problems continuously without ever having the satisfaction of completing a project.  Yes, I was given another pain in the “you know where”.  I was very lucky to have Christine Philben working on the Server Consolidation Project because she was smart and aggressively pushed to get the required organizations to consolidate servers, file data, and applications from the work place to the Battalion DOIM Server Farms. Chris and I were also lucky enough to get a TDY trip to Japan and Alaska to verify completion of the project.  The Server Consolidation contract was closed in early 2008.
I have been working for five decades now and I was wondering how well I have been aging. So, I went to my picture file and found one picture from each decade. I will let you decide how well I’m doing.  I do know one thing for sure – I’m still alive and kicking and many of my friends and co-workers are dead.
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Recent - 2010


Well?
I was really happy when my six months in management was over and Matt Olsen took over the PPM Branch Chief position.  Matt is very smart and I think he does an excellent job working in a difficult 516th Signal Brigade S3 environment.  It was about this time when USARPAC G6 took over the entire building T128 and us brigade people had to find a new home.  We were moved to building T118 which we shared with the military police.
My next project was being the COR for the Tech Refresh Contract. This was a large multi-phase project that involved installing new servers, virtualizing servers, upgrading to Windows 2008, installing Active Directory and Exchange 2007, Archiving data, and installing COOP Double-Take software. Yes, being COR for this contract was a real pain! Getting things coordinated and accomplished was becoming very difficult and in January 2010, the 516th Signal Brigade Commander (COL Tankins) formed a group called Task Force ACENET. Dave Millard from the 311th Signal Command Theater Architecture Office was assigned to lead the Task Force.
TF ACENET works out of the Network Engineering (NE) work space in building 520 (at least up to this writing in early November 2010).  I moved over to building 520 in February to be closer to the Dell contractors and became a member of the Task Force. I also kept my office in building T118 but I only use it the first two hours of the day. The TF ACENET charter eliminated “red tape” and with Dave Millard’s IT and Networking knowledge along with his forceful management style, project tasks started getting done in a timely fashion. We closed out the Tech Refresh contract in July 2010 but I stayed on the help run the Task Force.  Personnel from USARPAC G6, the 516th Signal Brigade, and the Battalions quickly realized that the only projects getting done were the ones managed by TF ACENET. Although Dave Millard has made a few enemies along the line, I have worked off and on with him since he was a CPT in the Army and we get along great. 
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	Dave Millard and me at Ft Wainwright, Alaska
	Me working at the Hilton bar in Anchorage


Earlier this year, Dave Millard, Walter Taketa, Grace Singleton, and I went TDY to Japan, Okinawa and Alaska to inspect the Tech Refresh hardware installs and to work on some networking problems. 
Before I wrap-up this column, I would like to share with you some of the technology changes I have seen and gone through during my Government Career working with computers.
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IBM 029 Card Punch
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Punched Card
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IBM System/360 Processor
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IBM 2420 Tape Drive
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IBM 2314 Disk Drives

	When I started programming in 1967, there were no personal computers, no networks (Internet), no email, and no cell phones. We had stand alone mainframe computers at most of the major Army installations. This was one step up from using the typewriter and stubby pencils to manage government business. I would code my programs on coding sheets and take them to the Keypunch Section to have punched cards generated. We would put the cards into a long file tray and carry them down to the Computer Room Input / Output (IO) Section and schedule a compile be run on the computer. The Computer Operator would read the cards into the Card Reader and the compile job would run on the computer processor. When it was done, the output would be printed and the listing and the cards would be returned to the IO Section. They would call me to come get my output and I would look at the listing and make any necessary corrections. Once you got a good compile, you could actually run your application job.

The early processors were about the size of two large freezers and if you looked inside, you would find multiple circuit boards and cables going all over the place. All mainframe computer rooms had raised floors so that the cables would be hidden. Some of these cables went to the card reader, card punch, printer, tape drives, disk drives, and various controllers. The equipment that took up the most space in the computer room was the rows of magnetic tape and disk drives. The IBM 360s were extremely popular using a design that is considered by many to be the most successful computers in history.
The magnetic tape is 1/2 inch wide, with 8 data tracks and one parity track for a total of 9 parallel tracks. Data is stored as 8-bit characters, spanning the full width of the tape. These tapes commonly had densities of 800, 1600, and 6250 characters per inch (CPI), giving approximately 20MB, 40MB and 140MB respectively on a standard 2400 inch tape.
The 2314 Disk Drives had eight usable disk drives with an integral control unit.  Each drive used a removable 2316 disk pack with a capacity of nearly 28 MB of data. There were 10 read/write heads that moved together across the surfaces of the platters which were formatted with 203 concentric tracks. 
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IBM 3705 Comm Controller
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IBM 3274 Cluster Controller
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IBM 3270 Terminal
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IBM Personal Computer
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Server Tower
	In the early to mid-1970s, networking all of these stand alone computers together became an urgent requirement. IBM installed a 3705 Communications Controller in our computer room and this made networking between sites possible. The next big advancement was the installation of a network between office buildings and the mainframe computer. This was accomplished by installing an IBM 3274 Cluster Controller at the various organizations which was connected to the communications controller at the mainframe computer site. Several “dumb” terminals were connected to the cluster controllers and users could now input data to the mainframe computer without running down to the computer room. This was good since we were getting tired of lugging those trays of cards back and forth between our office and the computer room. 
A computer network is a collection of computers and devices that are interconnected by communications channels that facilitate communications among users and allows them to share resources.  Wired technologies include twisted pair wire, coaxial cable, and optical fiber. Wireless technologies include microwave, satellites, cellular systems, high-frequency radio, and infrared communication.
The 3270 terminal is considered “dumb” because its function is confined to display and input of data.
In 1980, IBM rolled out the first Personal Computers (PC).  It came with a whopping 64K of RAM, an Intel 8088 processor, and a green monochrome monitor.  You had to start it up with a boot disk in the 5-1/4” floppy drive as it had no hard drive.  It cost about $2,500.00 in 1980 dollars. This was the start of a new era in computers that continues to this day. Everybody wanted their own computer. 
Throughout the 1980s:

· PCs got smaller and faster.
· More memory and hard disk space was made available.
· Many more applications were developed to run on PCs.
By 1990, almost every government employee had a PC on their desk.

About this time, organizations Army-wide were purchasing multiple computer servers for running their specific applications, file data storage, print servers, etc.  Mainframe computer use was declining rapidly.   
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The Internet
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Office Server Room Mess
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DOIM Server Farm
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Laptop Personal Computer
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Smart Cell Phones
	The Internet became available to the public in 1993 and was being used Army-wide by 1995. Along with the Internet came email and this changed the way business was done World-wide. Can you remember how you communicated and got things done before email?  You probably made a lot more phone calls, visited more people, and wrote more letters.

The Internet is basically a very big Wide Area Network (WAN).  It was originally developed by the US Government to improve communication between its military computers.  If a cable is cut or down for any reason, the information will take another path.  It has since grown into what we all know today.

By the mid-1990s, the Army had started removing most all of the mainframe computers. The decentralization of computers to the office areas seemed like a great idea in the beginning but organizations soon found out otherwise.  Most organizations didn’t have trained computer people to keep servers up-to-date, to take backups of the data, to maintain vendor warranties, and to fix problems when they occurred.  Critical data was being lost, critical applications would not run, and servers were dying everywhere causing the government to have a major problem on their hands.

In 2004, the Army Chief of Staff directed all military units to get all of the servers out of the work place and consolidate the data to new servers at the Regional Data Centers or to the Battalion Data Facilities (DOIMs).  This effort took about three years to accomplish.   
During recent years, laptop or notebook computer technology is advancing so fast that by the time you purchase your new laptop, it's probably already obsolete or out of date.  Basically, these new technologies have made laptops smaller, faster and more powerful. With every new improvement, the laptop is closing the gap between its main rival - the desktop computer.  Notebook computers are now out-selling desktops for the first time in history.
The newest technology device out is the Smartphone.  These are cell phones with computer like capabilities.  You have World-wide web access, email capabilities, address books, texting, picture taking, and a whole lot more.  If you want, you can even make a phone call with one of these things! Now days, almost everybody you see is walking around like zombies staring intently at the phone in their hand.
Isn’t new technology great!!


Well, that pretty much sums up my Federal Government Career.  
This will be my last column for awhile since I need to work on what I plan to do after retirement. 
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